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About Us
BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT
BERHAD (BDGRB) has a sprawling
international standard 18-hole golf
course that spans on 190 acres of
land.
The green has been attracting golfers from all over the country since it
first opened its doors in 1993. It was upgraded in June 2013, and it has
been attracting golfers from all over the country since then. Its popularity
has grown as a result of a number of professional tournaments, including
the BDB Masters, one of the most anticipated amateur tournaments in
the north.
Known as the “Pride of the North,” BDGRB is one of the golf resorts
that provide a full range of resort amenities. Swimming pools, badminton
courts, a gymnasium, conference facilities, F&B outlets (Classic Café)
and chalets are just a few of the amenities available at the Resorts.
Guests can enjoy the relaxing landscape or participate in outdoor
activities such as golfing, canoeing, boating, walking, and cycling at our
sisters company in Darulaman Park or Darulaman Trails.
BDGRB welcomes you with a smile.
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Corporate
Information

REGISTERED OFFICE

Aras 9, Menara BDB
88, Lebuhraya Darulaman
05100 Alor Setar
Kedah Darul Aman
Tel
Fax
Email
Website

: 04 730 0303
: 04 734 2714
: bina_darulaman@bdb.com.my
: www.bdb.com.my

I S S U E D S H A R E C A P I TA L
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(as at 8 May 2022)

1.
2.

Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah
Chairman

RM18,562,235.00
AUDITORS

Messrs KPMG PLT

Dato’ Haji Armishah Bin Siraj
Director

C H A RT E R E D A C C O U N TA N T S

3.

Dato’ Haji Syed Yussof Bin Syed Othman

4.

Mohd Iskandar Dzulkarnain Bin Ramli

Level 18, Hunza Tower
163E Jalan Kelawei
10250 Penang

5.

Noran Zamini Bin Jamaluddin

Tel : 04 375 1800
Fax : 04 238 2222

Director
Director
Director

BANKERS
C O M PA N Y S E C R E TA RY

Khairulmuna Binti Abd Ghani
SSM PC No. 202008004025
LS 0008190
MANAGEMENT TEAM

Samshul Anor Bin Ahmad
Caretaker

Rosmin Binti Said

Malayan Banking Berhad
No. 175 & 176 Jalan PJ 2
06000 Jitra
Kedah Darul Aman
Affin Islamic Bank Berhad
Jitra Branch
No. 17 Jalan Tengku Maheran 2
Taman Tengku Maheran, Fasa 4
06000 Jitra
Kedah Darul Aman

Head of Business Human Resource, Property & Leisure

I M M E D I AT E H O L D I N G C O M PA N Y

Mohd Hisham Bin Mohd Saad

BDB Land Sdn Bhd

Business Controller Property & Leisure Division

[Registration No.198101003170 (69284-P)]
P E N U LT I M AT E H O L D I N G C O M PA N Y

Bina Darulaman Berhad

[Registration No.199501003751 (332945-X)]
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Board of

Directors

Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman
Bin Abdullah
Chairman

Dato’ Haji Armishah Bin Siraj
Director

Dato’ Haji Syed Yussof
Bin Syed Othman

Mohd Iskandar Dzulkarnain
Bin Ramli

Director

Director

Note : Noran Zamini Bin Jamaludin is not in the picture.
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Chairman’s
Statement

Dear Valued Shareholders and Members,

On behalf of the Board of BDB
Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad
(BDGRB), it is my pleasure to
present the Annual Report,
incorporating the Financial
Statements of the Company for
the Financial Year Ended
31 December 2021 (FY2021).

OVERVIEW OF 2021

2021 started with extension of Recovery Movement
Control Order (RMCO) from 1st January until 31st
March. On 12th January 2021, the Prime Minister
of Malaysia announced that his Majesty the Yang
di-Pertuan Agong had declared a Proclamation of
Emergency throughout Malaysia from 14th January
to 1st August 2021 in order to curb the Covid-19
epidemic. Situation remained with Recovery
Movement Control Order (RMCO) from until Enhanced
Movement Control Order (EMCO) was enforced in
Kubang Pasu and Alor Setar from 3rd August until
late October. During this time, Mandatory Standard
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Operating Procedures (MSOP) by Malaysian Golf
Association (MGA) for Club guidelines was introduced
and doesn’t allow any tournament for the state who
doesn’t achieved 3rd Stage status. Kedah only
attained the status in November 2021. Only two (2)
notable social golf events took place in 2021 which
will be mention later.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The operating environment for the year under review
continued to be more challenging compared to
the previous years. Due to Covid-19, the Club’s
performance in 2021 has been heavily impacted.

The Company’s revenue dropped to RM2.70 million
compared to RM3.49 million recorded in the previous
year, reflecting domestic and regional economies.

R E V I E W O F O P E R AT I O N S

Despite a decrease in revenue, the Company posted
a lower Loss Before Tax of RM1.63 million compared
to RM1.70 million recorded in 2020.

The Golf Division contributed revenue of RM1.24
million in 2021, a decrease of 18.42% compared to
the RM1.52 million posted in 2020.

In order to cover operational costs, more initiatives
and exploration of mainly Food and Beverages
segment in 2021 took place via enhancing food
offering and online delivery. Furthermore, BDGRB
reassigned manpower to focus on other business
units within BDB Group to temporary cushion the
pandemic impact to the Company.

During the year, Darulaman Golf and Country Club
(DGCC) hosted two (2) tournaments and golf events
due to restriction for tournament imposed by
Malaysian Golf Association (MGA) from 15th January
2021 until 31st December 2021:
• Golf Piala President BDB in January 2021
• Pertandingan Golf 5 Penjuru RAMD in 18th
November 2021

Golf Division
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REALIGNMENT OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS IN
2021

For many businesses, small and large, the measures
taken to help deal with the fallout of the pandemic have
led to shifting workplaces, declining revenues and, in
some cases, workforce reductions. These measures
have for temporary and long term implications.
Considering the current business environment, and
after a thorough deliberation, the Management and
the Board of BDGRB had taken a few steps to review
the overall business and its plan to improve and
revitalize the financial position of the Company.
In February 2021, BDB management had decided
not to continue with BDB Hotels business. Thus,
reducing cost of sales further in order to cope with
the reduction of revenue. This decision was in line
with the management view of reducing BDB footprint
in Leisure business to brace for the recovery period
in 2022.
A P P R E C I AT I O N

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish to record
our sincere appreciation to all of our members for their
unwavering support of DGCC. Our appreciation also
goes to the public for patronizing our resort facilities.

In 2021, active DGRB members stood at 456
members, a decrease of 16% from the 545 members
in 2020.
Food & Beverage Division
The Food & Beverage Division (F&B) contributed
revenue of RM850,048 in 2021, a decrease of 7.73%
compared to RM921,271 posted in 2020.
Hotel Division
The Hotel Division operated until Feb 2021 and
contributed revenue of RM33,351 in 2021 compared
to RM447,566 in 2020.

8 l

BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad [1992 0102 2806 (254310-M)]

To my colleagues on the Board, I wish to thank them
for their contribution, support and active participation
during the Board meetings.
Last but not least, our appreciation and gratitude
to the Management and staffs for their dedication,
commitment and loyalty that has enabled the
Company to survive through this difficult time.

Dato’ Hj Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah
Chairman

Notice of 28th Annual
General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 28th Annual General Meeting of BDB Darulaman
Golf Resort Berhad (“the Company”) will be held at Centre of Learning (“COL”),
Aras 4, Menara BDB, 88, Lebuhraya Darulaman, 05100 Alor Setar, Kedah Darul Aman
on Monday, 23 May 2022 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:
AGENDA

As Ordinary Business
1.

To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the Financial Year Ended 31 December
2021 together with the Reports of the Directors’ and Auditors’ thereon.

2.

Propose retirement by rotation under Article 106 of the Company’s Constitution.

(Refer
Explanatory
Note 1)

i.

To re-elect Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah who is retiring in accordance
with Article 106 of the Company’s Constitution.

(Resolution 1)

ii.

To re-elect Encik Noran Zamini Bin Jamaluddin who is retiring in accordance
with Article 106 of the Company’s Constitution.

(Resolution 2)

(Refer Explanatory Note 2)
3.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for the Financial Year Ended 31 December
2021.

(Resolution 3)

(Refer Explanatory Note 3)
4.

To approve the payment of Directors’ Benefits (excluding Directors’ Fees) in
accordance with Section 230(1) of the Companies Act, 2016 with effect from the 28th
Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

(Resolution 4)

(Refer Explanatory Note 3)
5.

To re-appoint Messrs. KPMG PLT as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year
and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 5)
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6.

To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given in accordance
with the Companies Act, 2016 and the Company’s Constitution.

By Order of the Board,
KHAIRULMUNA BINTI ABD GHANI
SSM PC No. 202008004025
LS 0008190

Company Secretary

Alor Setar, Kedah Darul Aman.
Dated: 8 May 2022
Notes:
1.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint up to two
proxies (or being a corporate member, a corporate representative) to attend and vote in his stead. A
member shall specify the shareholding proportion where two proxies are appointed. A proxy need not be
a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction to the qualification of the proxy.

2.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall:
a.
In the case of an individual, be signed by the appointer or by his/her attorney.
b.
In the case of a corporation, be either under its common seal or under the hand of its duly authorised
attorney or officer on behalf of the corporation.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly
authorised in writing or if the appointer is a corporation either under its common seal or under the hand
of an officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

4.

The form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, shall be deposited at the
Company’s Registered Office at Aras 9, Menara BDB, 88, Lebuhraya Darulaman, 05100 Alor Setar,
Kedah Darul Aman OR via the email address at dgrb.agm@bdb.com.my not less than forty-eight (48)
hours before the time set for holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

5.

Only a depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at 16 May 2022 shall be entitled to
attend the said meeting and to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and/or vote on his/her behalf.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(AUDITED FYE2021)
The Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“FYE2021”) under
Agenda 1 are laid before shareholders pursuant to provisions of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act,
2016 for discussion only and will not be put forward for voting.
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2.

Resolution 1 and Resolution 2
RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 106 OF THE COMPANY’S CONSTITUTION
Directors who are standing for re-election or re-appointment at the 28th Annual General Meeting:
i.
Y. Bhg Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah
ii.
Y. Bhg Encik Noran Zamini Bin Jamaluddin

3.

Resolution 3 and Resolution 4
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
i.

Pursuant to Section 230 (1) of the Companies Act, 2016, any Directors’ Remuneration including
Directors’ Fees provide amongst others, that the “fees” of the directors and “any benefits” payable
to the directors of a company shall be approved at the AGM. In this respect the Board agreed that
the shareholders’ approval shall be sought at the 28th AGM on the Director’s Remuneration in two
(2) separate resolutions as follows:
• Resolution 3 : The payment of Directors’ Fees of RM18,000.00 in respect of the preceding
year 2021 and will only be made if the proposed Ordinary Resolution 3 has been
passed at the forthcoming AGM.
• Resolution 4 : The benefits payable for the Directors’ Benefits from the date of forthcoming
AGM until the next AGM of the Company and will only be made by the Company
as and when incurred if the Ordinary Resolution 4 has been passed at the
forthcoming AGM. In determining the estimated total amount of the Directors’
Benefits, the Board has considered the number of scheduled and Special
Meetings for meeting allowances.

ii.

The Directors’ Remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) comprises of the meeting allowances
payable to Chairman and members are as table below:

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
No. Description
Chairman
Member
			
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
1.
Board of Director’s Meeting Allowances per meeting
1,500.00
1,000.00
2.
Annual General Meeting
1,500.00
1,000.00
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Personal Data Privacy
By submitting the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), to attend, speak and vote at
the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company: (i) consents to the
processing of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents): (a) for processing and administration
of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM; (b) preparation and compilation of the attendance lists,
minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (which includes any adjournments thereto); and (c) for the
Company’s (or its agents) compliance with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that he or she has obtained such proxy(ies) and/or representative’s(s’)
prior consent for the Company’s (or its agents) processing of such proxy(ies) and/or representative’s(s’) personal
data for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company for any penalties, liabilities,
claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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Event
Calendar 2021
Kejohanan Golf
Tertutup Piala
Presiden BDB
Group 2021.
The number
of cases
in Kedah
increases
but despite
that our café
is still in
operation for
food delivery.

To increase our
income during
Ramadan, DGCC
opens up Drive Thru
counter at the main
entrance.
As the SOP does not
permit dine in, thus
our main income is
now to rely on Drive
Thru services.

As DGCC staff
is down with
positive cases
and being close
contact, we have
to temporarily
close the
operations of
Classic Café.

Announcement of MCO changed the scenario.
JAN

FEB

MAR

APR

MAY

JUN

MCO 2.0
Proclamationof Emergency

The Restaurant
operation is returning
to delivery mode.

Farewell to one of our longest
serving staff En Johari Ismail
our Course Superintendent.
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Proclamation of
Emergency followed and
golf activity is under
lockdown.

Case of Covid-19 worsen and
total lockdown back in place. No
Golf bussiness again.

Revision to
update menu
for Drive Thru.
In November the SOP
change from single
to shared buggy, this
is last Tournament in
2021.

More DGCC staff
for F&B down with
positive case and
close contact.

Classic Café is closed

Covid-19 Stage 3

(Workers are infected with Covid-19)

JUL

AUG

for Kedah

SEP

OCT

NOV

DEC

Situation
back to
normal

MCO 3.0
Kota Setar EMCO

(6-19 September 2021)

Year 2021 is
also a final
year most of
the staff stayed
under one roof.
So for the last
hurrah, the staff
decided to have
last hurrah in
Staff Sport Day
and Dinner
with everybody
chipped in and
using remaining
balance of
Sport Fund.
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Reciprocal and
Affiliated Clubs

RECIPROCAL

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
1.
Kelab Golf Perkhidmatan Awam Malaysia
Kuala Lumpur
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2.
Kelab Rekreasi Tentera Udara
Kuala Lumpur
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
3.
Kelab Golf Danau (UKM)
Selangor
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
4. Kelab Golf Negara Subang
Selangor
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
5.
Kelab Rahman Putra Malaysia
Selangor
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
6.
Nilai Spring Golf & Country Club
Negeri Sembilan
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
7.
Staffield Country Resort
Negeri Sembilan
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
8. Port Dickson Golf & Country Club
Negeri Sembilan
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
9.
Seremban International Golf Club
Negeri Sembilan
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
10.
Teluk Intan Golf & Country Club
Perak
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
11.
Royal Perak Golf Club
Perak
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
12. A’Famosa Golf Resort Berhad
Melaka
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
13.
Kuala Terengganu Golf Resort
Terengganu
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
14.
Damai Golf & Country Club
Sarawak
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
15.
Samarahan Country Club
Sarawak
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
16. Sabah Golf & Country Club
Sabah
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
17.
Nexus Golf Resort Karambunai
Sabah
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
18.
Labuan International Golf Club
Sabah
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
19.
Royal Pahang Golf Club
Pahang
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
A F F I L I AT E D

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
1.
Meru Valley Golf & Country Club
Perak
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2.
Monterez Golf & Country Club
Selangor
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
3.
Kelab Golf Putra
Perlis
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
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Financial
Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 Annual Report

l 15

Directors’ Report

for the year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in the operation and management of a golf resort and hotel business. There
has been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
U LT I M AT E H O L D I N G C O M PA N Y

The Directors regard Perbadanan Kemajuan Negeri Kedah (“PKNK”), a statutory body formed in Malaysia as the
Company’s ultimate holding corporation, during the financial year and until the date of this report.
R E S U LT S

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
RM
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Loss for the year
1,627,111
––––––––––––––
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review.
DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid since the end of previous financial year and the Directors do not recommend any dividend
to be paid for the financial year under review.
DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

Directors who served during the financial year until the date of this report are:
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah
Dato’ Haji Syed Yussof Bin Syed Othman
Mohd Iskandar Dzulkarnain Bin Ramli
Noran Zamini Bin Jamaluddin
Dato’ Haji Armishah Bin Siraj
Faris Najhan Bin Hashim
(Resigned on 3 February 2022)
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

None of the Directors holding office at 31 December 2021 had any interest in the ordinary shares of the Company
and of its related corporations during the financial year.
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Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become entitled to
receive any benefit (other than those fees and other benefits included in the aggregate amount of remuneration
received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time
employee of the Company or of its related corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a
related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which
the Director has a substantial financial interest.
There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

There were no changes in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company and no debentures were issued during
the financial year.
OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

No indemnity was given to any Directors or officers of the Company during the financial year. The professional
indemnity insurance was however effected for all the Directors. The cost of such insurance thereon is as
disclosed in the Directors’ Report of its penultimate holding company.
O T H E R S TAT U T O RY I N F O R M AT I O N

Before the financial statements of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain
that:
i)

all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and

ii)

any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been written
down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:
i)

that would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in
the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or

ii)

that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Company
misleading, or

iii)

which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the
Company misleading or inappropriate, or
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Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

O T H E R S TAT U T O RY I N F O R M AT I O N ( C O N T I N U E D )

iv)

not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements, that would render any amount stated in
the financial statements of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
i)

any charge on the assets of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and which
secures the liabilities of any other person, or

ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of the Company has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable
within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will
or may substantially affect the ability of the Company to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.
In the opinion of the Directors, the financial performance of the Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2021 has not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and
unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or event occurred in the interval between the end of that
financial year and the date of this report.
SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The details of subsequent event are disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements.
AUDITORS

The auditors, KPMG PLT, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.
The auditors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

.............................................................................................
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah
Director

.............................................................................................
Dato’ Haji Syed Yussof Bin Syed Othman
Director
Alor Setar,
Date: 10 May 2022
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2021

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Note
2021
2020
		RM
RM
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Assets
			
Property, plant and equipment
3
12,347,252
12,933,624
Right-of-use assets
4
316,022
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total non-current assets		
12,347,252
13,249,646
		
------------------- ------------------Inventories
5
5,509
25,663
Trade and other receivables
6
1,084,973
764,576
Deposits with licensed banks
7
121,308
108,994
Cash and bank balances		
365,946
324,536
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total current assets		
1,577,736
1,223,769
		
------------------- ------------------Total assets		
13,924,988
14,473,415
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Equity 				
Share capital
8
18,562,235
18,562,235
Accumulated losses		
(24,558,353)
(22,931,242)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 		
(5,996,118)
(4,369,007)
		
------------------- ------------------Liabilities 				
Borrowings
9
Lease liabilities		
		
Total non-current liabilities 		
		
Borrowings
9
Lease liabilities		
Trade and other payables
10
		
Total current liabilities		
		
Total liabilities		
		
Total equity and liabilities 		
		

––––––––––––––
------------------6,690
19,914,416
––––––––––––––
19,921,106
------------------19,921,106
------------------13,924,988
––––––––––––––

18,564
227,358
––––––––––––––
245,922
------------------197,927
105,053
18,293,520
––––––––––––––
18,596,500
------------------18,842,422
------------------14,473,415
––––––––––––––

The notes on pages 24 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Note
2021
2020
		RM
RM
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Revenue
11
2,695,310
3,493,373
Cost of sales
12
		
Gross loss		

(3,118,581)
(3,941,041)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
(423,271)
(447,668)

Distribution expenses		

(72)

(16,611)

Administrative expenses		

(1,202,935)

(1,553,398)

Other operating income		
		
Results from operating activities
13

49,771
387,016
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
(1,576,507)
(1,630,661)

Finance costs
14
		
Loss before tax		

(50,604)
(74,184)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
(1,627,111)
(1,704,845)

Tax expense
17
		
Loss representing total comprehensive expense
for the year		
		

-		 –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
(1,627,111)
(1,704,845)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

The notes on pages 24 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Non		distributable
Share
Accumulated
Total
capital
losses
equity
RM
RM
RM
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
At 1 January 2020
18,562,235
(21,226,397)
(2,664,162)
Loss representing total comprehensive
expense for the year
		
At 31 December 2020/1 January 2021

(1,704,845)
(1,704,845)
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
18,562,235
(22,931,242)
(4,369,007)

Loss representing total comprehensive
expense for the year
		
At 31 December 2021
		
		

(1,627,111)
(1,627,111)
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
18,562,235
(24,558,353)
(5,996,118)
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Note 8		

The notes on pages 24 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2021

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Note
2021
2020
		RM
RM
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Cash flows from operating activities				
Loss before tax		

(1,627,111)

(1,704,845)

Adjustments for :				
		 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
3
586,372
807,954
		 Depreciation of right-of-use assets
4
34,994
105,341
		 Interest expense
14
50,604
74,184
		 Interest income
13
(12,315)
(273)
		 Gain on derecognition of leases
13
(16,975)		 		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Operating loss before working capital changes		
(984,431)
(717,639)

		 Changes in working capital :				
		 Inventories 		
20,154
9,327
		 Trade and other receivables 		
(320,397)
(106,106)
		 Trade and other payables		
1,620,896
1,379,500
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Net cash from operating activities		
336,222
565,082
		
------------------- ------------------Cash flows from investing activities				
Purchase of plant and equipment		
(13,864)
Interest income received		
12,315
273
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities		
12,315
(13,591)
		
------------------- ------------------Cash flows from financing activities 				
		 Placement of pledged deposits 		
		 Bank balances pledged with a licensed bank		
		 Repayment of borrowings
9.1
		 Payment of lease liabilities
9.1
		 Interest paid 		
		
Net cash used in financing activities		
		
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		

(12,314)
(273)
(3,000)
(36,000)
(102,861)
(177,367)
(34,408)
(99,691)
(50,604)
(74,184)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
(203,187)
(387,515)
------------------- ------------------145,350
163,976

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year		
		
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
A
		

(80,738)
(244,714)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
64,612
(80,738)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

Note
A. Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following statement of
financial position amounts :
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		 Cash and bank balances 		
365,946
324,536
		 Less : Bank balances pledged		
(301,334)
(298,334)
		 Less : Bank overdraft
(106,940)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
					
64,612
(80,738)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Cash and bank balances placed in banks which are government-related entities amounted to RM362,056
(2020 : RM315,440).
Included in the cash and bank balances is an amount of RM301,334 (2020 : RM298,334) pledged as security
for bank overdraft facility as disclosed in Note 9.3 to the financial statements.
Cash outflows for leases as a lessee

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Note
2021
2020
		RM
RM
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Included in net cash from financing activities				
				
Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities
14
5,592
20,309
				
Payment of lease liabilities		
34,408
99,691
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total cash outflows for leases		
40,000
120,000
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

The notes on pages 24 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad is a public company limited by shares,
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia. The addresses of the principal
place of business and registered office of the Company are as follows:
Principal place of business
Darulaman Golf and Country Club
Bandar Darulaman
06007 Jitra
Kedah Darul Aman
Registered office
Aras 9, Menara BDB
88, Lebuhraya Darulaman
05100 Alor Setar
Kedah Darul Aman
The Company is principally engaged in the operation and management of a golf resort and hotel business.
The immediate holding company and penultimate holding company are BDB Land Sdn. Bhd. and Bina Darulaman
Berhad respectively, both of which are incorporated in Malaysia. Bina Darulaman Berhad is listed on the Main
Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The ultimate holding corporation is Perbadanan Kemajuan Negeri
Kedah, a statutory body formed in Malaysia.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 10 May 2022.
1.

B A S I S O F P R E PA R AT I O N

(a)

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued by
the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been adopted by the Company:
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
• Amendment to MFRS 16, Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
• Amendments to MFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
(Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)
• Amendments to MFRS 3, Business Combinations – Reference to the Conceptual Framework
• Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2018−2020)
• Amendments to Illustrative Examples accompanying MFRS 16, Leases (Annual Improvements
to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)
• Amendments to MFRS 116, Property, Plant and Equipment − Proceeds before Intended Use
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

1.

B A S I S O F P R E PA R AT I O N ( C O N T I N U E D )

(a)

Statement of compliance (Continued)
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
(Continued)
• Amendments to MFRS 137, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets − Onerous
Contracts − Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
• Amendments to MFRS 141, Agriculture (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
• MFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
• Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and Disclosures of Accounting Policies
• Amendments to MFRS 108, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
– Definition of Accounting Estimates
• Amendments to MFRS 112, Income Taxes – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date yet to be
confirmed
• Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128, Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
The Company plans to apply the abovementioned accounting standards and amendments, where
applicable, in the respective financial years when the abovementioned accounting standards,
interpretations and amendments become effective.
The initial application of the accounting standards or amendments are not expected to have
any material financial impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of the
Company.

(b)

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as disclosed in
Note 2 to the financial statements.
The Company recorded a loss of RM1,627,111 during the financial year ended 31 December 2021
and as of that date, there was a deficit in total equity attributable to owners of the Company of
RM5,996,118 and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM18,343,370,
thereby indicating the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The validity of the going concern assumption
is on the premise that the Company has the commitment from the penultimate holding company
to provide continuous financial support to the Company, to enable the Company to meet its
liabilities as and when they fall due to maintain the Company in existence as a going concern for
the foreseeable future.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the penultimate holding
company has confirmed its financial support to enable the Company to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

1.

B A S I S O F P R E PA R AT I O N ( C O N T I N U E D )

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s
functional currency. All financial information is presented in RM, unless otherwise stated.

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.
There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements other
than Note 4 – extension options and incremental borrowing rate in relation to leases.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in these
financial statements, unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Financial instruments
(i)

Recognition and initial measurement
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component) or
a financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issuance. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

(ii)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement
Financial assets
Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for
managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the
first day of the first reporting period following the change of the business model.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(ii)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding. The financial assets are not designated as fair value
through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 2(f)(i)) where the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost.
All financial assets are subject to impairment assessment (see Note 2(f)(i)).
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities not categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss.
Any gains or losses on derecognition are also recognised in the profit or loss.

(iii)

Derecognition
A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or control of the asset is not retained or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred to
another party.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.
A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. A financial liability is also derecognised
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different, in which case, a new financial liability based on modified terms is recognised at fair
value. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(iv)

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or
to realise the asset and liability simultaneously.

(b)

Property, plant and equipment
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended
use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and
direct labour.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised
as part of that equipment.
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and
equipment.
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and is recognised net within “other operating income” or “other operating
expenses” respectively in profit or loss.

(ii)

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised
in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied
within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised to profit or loss. The costs of
the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components
of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from
the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately.

28 l

BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad [1992 0102 2806 (254310-M)]

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
(iii)

Depreciation (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment from the date that they
are available for use.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Golf course
Club house
Course machinery, machinery, equipment and computers
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fixtures and fittings
Renovation and electrical installation
Housekeeping and kitchen equipment

99 years
50 years
4 – 5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at end of the reporting
period, and adjusted as appropriate.
(c)

Leases
(i)

Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses
whether:
•

the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity
of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the
asset is not identified;

•

the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of
the asset throughout the period of use; and

•

the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer has this right
when it has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for
what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what
purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the customer has the right to direct the use
of the asset if either the customer has the right to operate the asset; or the customer
designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of properties in which the
Company is a lessee, it has elected not to separate non-lease components and will instead
account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Leases (Continued)
(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement
(a)

As a lessee
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that
are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed
payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any incentives receivable.
The Company excludes variable lease payments that linked to future performance
or usage of the underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the performance or use occurs.
The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(iii)

Subsequent measurement
(a)

As a lessee
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method
from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the rightof-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use
assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment.
In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any,
and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It
is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, if there is a revision of in-substance fixed lease payments, or if there
is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Leases (Continued)
(iii)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
(a)

As a lessee (Continued)
When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

(d)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted average method, and includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing
location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(e)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and
highly liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value with original
maturities of three months or less, and are used by the Company in the management of its short
term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are
presented net of pledged deposits and bank overdraft, if any.

(f)

Impairment
(i)

Financial assets
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets
measured at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses.
The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss,
except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date,
cash and bank balance and other debt securities for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, which are measured at 12-month expected credit loss.
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit loss.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Company consider
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forwardlooking information, where available.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Impairment (Continued)
(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected credit losses are
the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date. The maximum period considered when estimating
expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is
exposed to credit risk.
The Company estimates the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a provision
matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience.
An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised
in profit or loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account.
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost are credit impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

(ii)

Other assets
The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories) are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cashgenerating unit.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cashgenerating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) on a pro rata basis.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Impairment (Continued)
(ii)

Other assets (continued)
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting
period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial
year in which the reversals are recognised.

(g)

Equity instruments
Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not remeasured
subsequently.
(i)

Issue expenses
Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised as
a deduction from equity.

(ii)

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(h)

Employee benefits
(i)

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave and sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus
or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

(ii)

State plans
The Company’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss in the
financial year to which they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as
finance cost.

(j)

Revenue and other income
(i)

Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The Company recognises revenue when (or as) it transfers control over
a product or service to customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains
control of the asset.
The Company transfers control of a good or service at a point in time unless one of the
following over time criteria is met:
(a)
(b)
(c)

(ii)

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as the
Company performs;
the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or
the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and the
Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit or
loss.

(iii)

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term
of the lease.

(iv)

Government grant
Government grant is recognised on an accrual basis as described in Note 2(l).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

(l)

Government grant
Government grants are in respect of advances and subsidies awarded by the Government for the
upgrading of green and golf course. Grants that compensate expenses incurred are recognised as
income to match the costs that it is intended to compensate.
An asset-related grant is recorded as a deduction against the carrying amount of the related asset
which is subsequently recognised in income by way of reduced depreciation charges.
Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Company will comply with the conditions
associated with the grant; they are then recognised in profit or loss as other operating income on a
systematic basis.
Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as
other income on a systematic basis in the same period in which the expenses are recognised.

(m)

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other
comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial years.
Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position and their tax
bases. Deferred tax is not recognised for the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n)

Fair value measurements
Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for lease transactions, is determined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market.
For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data
as far as possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on
the input used in the valuation technique as follows:
Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Company can access at the measurement date.
Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 : unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfers.
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P R O P E R T Y, P L A N T A N D E Q U I P M E N T

Additions

At 31 December 2020/
		 1 January 2021/
		 31 December 2021
		

		

At 1 January 2020

9,087,806

2,668,463

166,378

1,060,191

880,985

107,912

23,577,489

9,605,754
9,087,806
2,671,763
166,378
1,064,391
880,985
114,276
23,591,353
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

3,300
4,200
6,364
13,864
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

9,605,754

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			Course
			machinery,				 House
			machinery,			 Renovation
keeping
			equipment		 Furniture,
and
and
Golf
Club
and
Motor
fixtures
electrical
kitchen
course
house
computers
vehicles
and fittings
installation
equipment
Total
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Cost

3.
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P R O P E R T Y, P L A N T A N D E Q U I P M E N T ( C O N T I N U E D )

3,664,749

2,250,742

164,066

906,857

346,163

65,136

9,849,775

3,846,505

2,538,754

166,130

953,443

517,700

86,107

10,657,729

97,028
181,756
95,568
43,310
149,063
19,647
586,372
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
2,646,118
4,028,261
2,634,322
166,130
996,753
666,763
105,754
11,244,101
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

2,549,090

97,028
181,756
288,012
2,064
46,586
171,537
20,971
807,954
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

2,452,062

Carrying amounts								
								
At 1 January 2020
7,153,692
5,423,057
417,721
2,312
153,334
534,822
42,776
13,727,714
		
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2020/
		 1 January 2021
7,056,664
5,241,301
133,009
248
110,948
363,285
28,169
12,933,624
		
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2021
6,959,636
5,059,545
37,441
248
67,638
214,222
8,522
12,347,252
		
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Depreciation for
		 the year
		
At 31 December 2021
		

Depreciation for
		 the year
		
At 31 December 2020/
		 1 January 2021

1 January 2020

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			Course
			machinery,				 House
			machinery,			 Renovation
keeping
			equipment		 Furniture,
and
and
Golf
Club
and
Motor
fixtures
electrical
kitchen
course
house
computers
vehicles
and fittings
installation
equipment
Total
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Accumulated
		depreciation

3.
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3.

P R O P E R T Y, P L A N T A N D E Q U I P M E N T ( C O N T I N U E D )

3.1

Assets under hire purchase
Included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are the following assets acquired
under hire purchase arrangement:

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Course machinery, machinery, equipment and computers

		

23,883
57,994
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Details of the terms and conditions of the hire purchase arrangements are disclosed in Note 9.2 to
the financial statements.
3.2

Fully depreciated assets
Included in property, plant and equipment of the Company are fully depreciated assets which are
still in use costing RM3,389,455 (2020 : RM2,900,431).

4.

R I G H T- O F - U S E A S S E T S

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			 Building
			
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 1 January 2020		
421,363
Depreciation 		
(105,341)
			––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2020/1 January 2021		
316,022
Depreciation 		
(34,994)
Derecognition*		
(281,028)
			––––––––––––––
At 31 December 2021
			––––––––––––––
* Derecognition of the right-of-use assets during 2021 is as a result of termination of lease.
The Company leased a hotel building for five years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.
4.1

Extension options
The lease of hotel building contains extension option exercisable by the Company before the end of
the non-cancellable contract period. The extension option held are exercisable only by the Company
and not by the lessor. The Company assesses at lease commencement whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the extension option. The Company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain
to exercise the option if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances within its
control.
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4.

R I G H T- O F - U S E A S S E T S ( C O N T I N U E D )

4.2

Significant judgements and assumptions in relation to lease
The Company assesses at lease commencement by applying significant judgement whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option. The Company considers all facts and
circumstances including their past practice and any cost that will be incurred to change the asset
if an option to extend is not taken, to help them determine the lease term.
The Company also applied judgement and assumptions in determining the incremental borrowing
rate of the lease. The Company first determine the closest available borrowing rates before using
significant judgement to determine the adjustments required to reflect the term, security, value or
economic environment of the lease.

5.

INVENTORIES

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Food, beverage and tobacco
932
15,447
Consumables
4,577
10,216
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
5,509
25,663
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
During the year, the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales of the Company was
RM288,564 (2020 : RM402,402).
6.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Trade
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Third parties 		
Less : Allowance for impairment		
				
Amount due from immediate holding company		
Amount due from penultimate holding company		
Amount due from related companies 		
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733,719
530,311
(175,249)
(175,249)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
558,470
355,062
81,819
107,523
31,332
2,488
287,855
128,996
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
959,476
594,069
------------------- -------------------

Notes to the Financial Statements
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6.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Non-trade
		
Other receivables		
1,459
4,565
Deposits		
8,000
45,568
Prepayments		
116,038
120,374
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
				
125,497
170,507
		
------------------- ------------------		
		
7.

				

–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
1,084,973
764,576
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Deposits placed with licensed banks which aged
more than 3 months 		
121,308
108,994
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
The deposits placed in licensed banks which are government-related entities are pledged as security for
banks guarantee facility.
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8.

S H A R E C A P I TA L

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Amount
Number of
Amount
Number of
RM
shares
RM
shares
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Issued and paid-up with no par
value classified as equity
instruments
Ordinary shares
Class A
At beginning of year/
At end of year
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5,000,000

50,000

5,000,000

50,000

Class B
At beginning of year/
At end of year
10,962,235
1,800
10,962,235
1,800
							
Class C
At beginning of year/
At end of year
2,600,000
1,100
2,600,000
1,100
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Total
18,562,235
52,900
18,562,235
52,900
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
8.1

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

8.2

All classes of shares rank pari passu in all respects with the following exceptions:
(i)

Each Class B Share and Class C Share (but not a Class A Share) shall entitle the holder or its
nominee to be a golfing member of Darulaman Golf and Country Club (hereinafter referred to
as “The Club”) subject to such rules and regulations of the Club as may from time to time be
laid down by the Board of Directors of the Company.

(ii)

On the winding up of the Company, the holders of Class B Shares and Class C Shares shall
be entitled to be repaid in proportion to the amounts subscribed and paid up by way of
capital and premium, in priority to the holders of Class A Shares.

(iii)

The holders of Class A Shares shall be entitled to appoint 50% of the Directors and to remove
and replace the same or to fill any casual vacancies and the other 50% of the Directors shall
be elected jointly by the holders of Class B Shares and Class C Shares from amongst the
members.
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9.

BORROWINGS

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Note
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Current
Hire purchase creditors
Bank overdraft

		
		

9.2
9.3

6,690
-

90,987
106,940

				
Non-current

6,690

197,927

Hire purchase creditors

9.2

				

18,564
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
6,690
216,491
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

2021 Annual Report

l 43

44 l

BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad [1992 0102 2806 (254310-M)]

9.1

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities:

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Hire purchase creditors are payable as follows:

9.3

Bank overdraft is secured by bank balances pledged with a licensed bank as disclosed in statement of cash flows.

Security

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		2021			2020
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			Present			Present
Future		
value of
Future		
value of
minimum lease		
minimum lease
minimum lease		
minimum lease
payments
Interest
payments
payments
Interest
payments
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Less than 1 year
6,788
98
6,690
93,445
2,458
90,987
Between 1 and 5 years
18,687
123
18,564
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
		
6,788
98
6,690
112,132
2,581
109,551
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

9.2

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		
Net change
At
Net change
At
in financing
31.12.2020/
in financing
Derecognition
At
1.1.2020
cash flows
1.1.2021
cash flows
of lease
31.12.2021
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Hire purchase creditors
286,918
(177,367)
109,551
(102,861)
6,690
Lease liabilities
432,102
(99,691)
332,411
(34,408)
(298,003)
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
		
719,020
(277,058)
441,962
(137,269)
(298,003)
6,690
–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

9.
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10.

T R A D E A N D O T H E R PAYA B L E S

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Note
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Trade
Trade payables 		

233,768

320,039

6,251,880
4,204,567
5,776,147
268,008
25,167
2,698,621
456,258

5,770,449
4,021,198
4,503,299
252,782
98,625
3,064,580
262,548

Non-trade
Amount due to penultimate holding company
10.1
Amount due to immediate holding company
10.1
Amount due to related companies
10.1
Refundable deposits		
Deferred income		
Other payables
10.2
Accruals		
		
		

				
				

19,680,648
17,973,481
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
19,914,416
18,293,520
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

10.1 Amounts due to penultimate holding company, immediate holding company and related
companies
The non-trade amounts due to penultimate holding company, immediate holding company and
related companies are unsecured, interest-free and payable on demand.
10.2 Other payables
Included in the other payables is government grants amounted to RM102,020 (2020: RM102,020).
11.

REVENUE

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Subscription and green fees		
577,091
685,856
Rental of golfing facilities		
667,392
838,230
Rental of premises		
89,578
76,078
Project nominee fees		
73,458
206,270
Food, beverage and banquet sales 		
850,048
921,271
Room sales		
33,351
447,566
Miscellaneous income		
404,392
318,102
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
				
2,695,310
3,493,373
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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12.

COST OF SALES

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Subscription and green fees expenses		
507,583
632,295
Rental of golfing facilities expenses		
557,044
629,584
Depreciation		
567,728
985,250
Food, beverage and banquet sales 		
821,175
885,286
Room sales		
155,397
638,609
Miscellaneous expenses		
509,654
170,017
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
				
3,118,581
3,941,041
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
13.

R E S U LT S F R O M O P E R AT I N G A C T I V I T I E S

Results from operating activities is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Auditors’ remuneration 		
18,000
18,000

		

Material expense/(income)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3)		
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 4)		
Government grants (Note 13.1)		
Interest income		
Gain on derecognition of leases		

586,372
807,954
34,994
105,341
(3,000)
(386,400)
(12,315)
(273)
(16,975)
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

13.1 In the current financial year, the Company received government grants of RM3,000 (2020:
RM386,400) as wage subsidy to retain local employees during the approved period of economic
uncertainty brought about by the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreaks.
14.

FINANCE COSTS

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Interest expense of financial liabilities that are not at
fair value through profit or loss:			
- Amount due to immediate holding company		
5,884
- Amount due to related companies		
42,259
36,942
Interest expense on hire purchase creditors		
2,753
11,049
Interest expense on lease liabilities		
5,592
20,309
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
				
50,604
74,184
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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15.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Personnel expense (including key management personnel)			
			
Wages and salaries		
1,829,984
2,227,621
Social security costs 		
26,395
37,503
Contributions to defined contribution plan		
214,790
266,645
Other benefits		
145,842
163,025
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
				
2,217,011
2,694,794
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
16.

K E Y M A N A G E M E N T P E R S O N N E L C O M P E N S AT I O N

The key management personnel compensation are as follows :
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Directors of the Company			
- Fees 		
18,000
18,000
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
17.

TA X E X P E N S E

Recognised in profit or loss
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Income tax expense		
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Reconciliation of tax expense
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Loss before tax 		
(1,627,111)
(1,704,845)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Income tax calculated at Malaysian tax rate of 24%		
(390,507)
(409,163)
Non-deductible expenses 		
62,355
64,043
Effect of deferred tax assets not recognised		
329,280
345,120
Others 		
(1,128)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss		
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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17.

TA X E X P E N S E ( C O N T I N U E D )

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect for the following items (stated at gross):
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Unabsorbed capital allowances		
16,418,000
16,194,000
Unutilised tax losses		
6,400,000
5,495,000
Other temporary differences		
(1,757,000)
(2,000,000)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
				
21,061,000
19,689,000
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
The unutilised tax losses will expire under the current tax legislation of Malaysia. The expiry of the various
unutilised tax losses are as shown below:
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Unutilised tax losses

		
		

- Expire in YA2028 (2020 : YA2025)		
- Expire in YA2029 (2020 : YA2026)		
- Expire in YA2030 (2020 : YA2027)		
- Expire in YA2031		
				

2,593,000
2,593,000
1,650,000
1,650,000
1,252,000
1,252,000
905,000
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
6,400,000
5,495,000
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Based on the Finance Bill 2021, unutilised tax losses shall be deductible against statutory income for a
maximum period of ten consecutive years of assessment immediately following that year of assessment.
The unabsorbed capital allowances do not expire under current tax legislation.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as it is not probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits therefrom.
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18.

R E L AT E D PA RT I E S D I S C L O S U R E S

Identity of related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company if the
Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the
party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company and the party are
subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other
entities.
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company either directly or indirectly. The key management
personnel include all the Directors of the Company and certain members of senior management of the
Company.
(a)

Significant related party transactions
The significant related party transactions of the Company are shown below. The balances related
to below transaction are shown in Notes 6 and 10.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Penultimate holding company :
Golf membership fee 		
Cleaning, landscaping and security services		
Management fee payable		
Rental of hotel building 		

11,959
116,494
(241,920)
(40,000)

11,959
232,718
(241,920)
(120,000)

94,715
6,000
-

143,194
6,000
(5,884)

335,401
12,000
(42,259)

259,175
12,000
(36,942)

12,315
(8,345)

273
(11,049)

200,217
48,473

218,314
105,796

Immediate holding company :
Sales		
Cleaning services and recreation fee		
Interest expenses		
Related companies :
Sales 		
Recreation fee		
Interest expense		
Government-related financial institutions :
Interest income		
Interest expenses		
State Government-related entities :
Quit rent and assessment		
Water		

Federal Government-related entities :			

		

Sewerage		
Electricity		

71,288
76,183
134,538
387,192
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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18.

R E L AT E D PA RT I E S D I S C L O S U R E S ( C O N T I N U E D )

(b)

Transaction with Directors and key management personnel
There were no transactions with the Directors and key management personnel other than
the remuneration package paid to them in accordance with the terms and conditions of their
appointment as disclosed in Note 16.

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

19.1 Categories of financial instruments
The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as Amortised Cost (“AC”).
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
		Carrying
		
amount
AC		
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
Financial assets

		
		

		
		

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)		
Deposits with licensed banks		
Cash and bank balances 		
			
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (excluding deferred income
and government grants)		
Hire purchase creditors		
			
2020

968,935
968,935
121,308
121,308
365,946
365,946
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
1,456,189
1,456,189
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

19,787,229
19,787,229
6,690
6,690
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
19,793,919
19,793,919
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Financial assets
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Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)		
Deposits with licensed banks		
Cash and bank balances 		
			
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (excluding deferred income
and government grants)		
Hire purchase creditors		
Bank overdraft		
			

BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad [1992 0102 2806 (254310-M)]

644,202
644,202
108,994
108,994
324,536
324,536
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
1,077,732
1,077,732
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

18,092,875
18,092,875
109,551
109,551
106,940
106,940
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
18,309,366
18,309,366
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.2 Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments :
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Net gains/(losses) arising on :			
			
- Financial assets measured at amortised cost		
12,315
273
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 		
(45,012)
(53,875)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
			
(32,697)
(53,602)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
19.3 Financial risk management
The Company has exposures to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•
•
•

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

19.4 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counter party to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises
principally from its receivables from customers.
(a)

Receivables

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
		
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis.
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether any of the trade receivables is credit
impaired.
The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables is written off (either partially
or full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. Nevertheless,
trade receivables that is written off could still be subject to enforcement activities.
There are no significant changes as compared to previous year.
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(Continued)

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.4 Credit risk (continued)
(a)

Receivables (continued)
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from
receivables is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.
Recognition and measurement of impairment losses
In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Company manages its debtors and takes
appropriate actions (including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long overdue
balances.
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of trade receivables. Consistent
with debt recovery process, invoices which are past due 90 days will be considered as credit
impaired.
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables.
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Gross		 Net
carrying
Loss
carrying
amount
allowance
amount
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021

Not past due
100,093
100,093
Past due 1 - 30 days
54,565
54,565
Past due 31 - 60 days
63,535
63,535
Past due 61 - 90 days
53,428
53,428
Past due more than 90 days
863,104
(175,249)
687,855
			–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
		
1,134,725
(175,249)
959,476
			–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
2020
Not past due
174,516
174,516
Past due 1 - 30 days
51,324
51,324
Past due 31 - 60 days
57,930
57,930
Past due 61 - 90 days
13,282
13,282
Past due more than 90 days
472,266
(175,249)
297,017
			–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
		
769,318
(175,249)
594,069
			–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.4 Credit risk (continued)
(a)

Receivables (continued)
Recognition and measurement of impairment losses (continued)
The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables during the
financial year were:

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 1 January/31 December 		
175,249
175,249
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
The allowance account in respect of trade receivable is used to record impairment losses.
Unless the Company is satisfied that recovery of the amount is possible, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against the receivables directly.
(b)

Other receivables
Credit risks on other receivables are mainly arising from deposits paid for utility. These
deposits will be received at the end of each lease terms. The Company manages the credit
risk together with the leasing arrangement.
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

(c)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
The Company’s surplus funds are deposited with licensed banks.
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the deposits
and balances with banks and financial institution in the statement of financial position.
These banks and financial institutions have low credit risks. In addition, some of the bank
balances are insured by government agencies. Consequently, the Company is of the view
that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.5 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various payables and
borrowings.
The Company maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed adequate
by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when they fall due. As at 31 December 2021, the current liabilities of the Company
exceeded the current assets by RM18,343,370. The penultimate holding company has agreed to
provide continuous financial support to enable the Company to meet its financial liabilities as and
when they fall due.
It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly
earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Carrying
Contractual
Contractual
Under
1-2
2-5
More than
amount
interest rates
cash flows
1 year
years
years
5 years
RM
%
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Non-derivative
financial liabilities
				
2021

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on undiscounted
contractual payments:

Maturity analysis

19.5 Liquidity risk (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Hire purchase creditors
109,551
3.30 - 4.10
112,132
93,445
18,687
Trade and other payables
(excluding deferred income
and government grants)
18,092,875
18,092,875
18,092,875
Bank overdraft
106,940
6.56
106,940
106,940
Lease liabilities
332,411
5.25
360,000
120,000
120,000
120,000
			––––––––––––––		–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
		
18,641,777		
18,671,947
18,413,260
138,687
120,000
			––––––––––––––		–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Hire purchase creditors
6,690
3.30
7,687
7,687
Trade and other payables
(excluding deferred income
and government grants)
19,787,229
19,787,229
19,787,229
			––––––––––––––		–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
		
19,793,919		
19,794,916
19,794,916
			––––––––––––––		–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
2020

19.

(Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.6

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and other prices which will affect the Company’s financial position or cash flows.

19.6.1 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rate. The Company’s interestearning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities are exposed to a risk of change in
their fair value due to changes in interest rates.
Short term receivables and payables are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk.
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
It is the policy of the Company to place cash balance in excess of working capital requirements
in fixed interest rate financial instruments. The Company manages its interest rate risk by placing
excess cash and cash equivalents with reputable banks and financial institutions in generating
interest income and the interest rate movement is monitored.
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial instruments, based
on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021
2020
		RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Fixed rate instruments			
			
Financial assets 			
- Deposits with licensed banks		
121,308
108,994
			
Financial liabilities 			
- Hire purchase creditors		
(6,690)
(109,551)
- Bank overdraft 		
(106,940)
- Lease liabilities 		
(332,411)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
			
114,618
(439,908)
		
–––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, and the Company does not designate derivatives as hedging instruments
under a fair value hedged accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of
the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.
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The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed banks, short-term receivables and payables and short-term borrowings reasonably
approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

19.7 Fair value information

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value of hire purchase creditor are determined based on discounted cash flows using a rate based on the current market rate of borrowing of the
Company at the reporting date.

Valuation technique used in determination of fair values within Level 3

Hire purchase creditors
109,551
109,551
109,551
109,551
				–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Financial liabilities

2020

Hire purchase creditors
6,690
6,690
6,690
6,690
				–––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– –––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––

Financial liabilities

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value
		
Total fair
Carrying
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
value
amount
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2021

19.

(Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Continued)

20.

C A P I TA L M A N A G E M E N T

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders value which
is in line with the policies set by the penultimate holding company, Bina Darulaman Berhad.
21.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 1 January 2022, the Company has leased the golf course to Winning Matters Sdn. Bhd. on an “as is
where is basis” for a lease term of 15 years, with an option to renew for a further period of 5 years with
monthly repayments of RM65,000 for the first thirty-nine months upon commencement of the agreement,
RM80,000 for the fortieth to ninetieth month and RM90,000 for the subsequent months until the expiry of
the agreement.
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Statement by Directors

pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 19 to 58 are drawn up in accordance
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
as of 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors :

.............................................................................................
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah
Director

.............................................................................................
Dato’ Haji Syed Yussof Bin Syed Othman
Director
Alor Setar,
Date: 10 May 2022
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Statutory Declaration

pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016

I, Nor Hayati binti Zainuddin, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of BDB Darulaman
Golf Resort Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 5 to 45 are,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the
declaration to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act 1960.
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Nor Hayati binti Zainuddin, NRIC: 800518-06-5366,
MIA CA29941, at George Town in the State of Penang on 10 May 2022.
			
				

.............................................................................................
Nor Hayati binti Zainuddin
Head of Treasury and Business Controller
Before me :
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Independent Auditors’ Report
TO THE MEMBERS OF
BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD
(Registration No. 199201022806 (254310 - M))
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

R E P O RT O N T H E A U D I T O F T H E F I N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 19 to 58.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our auditors’ report. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ByLaws and the IESBA Code.
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Company and our
auditors’ report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Company does not cover the annual report and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Company, our responsibility is to read the annual
report and, in doing so, consider whether the annual report is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the annual report,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Company that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also
responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

2021 Annual Report

l 61

Independent Auditors’ Report
(Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the ability of
the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Company as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards
on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Company, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the internal control of the Company.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Company, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Company represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

62 l

BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad [1992 0102 2806 (254310-M)]

Independent Auditors’ Report
(Continued)

O T H E R M AT T E R

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person
for the content of this report.

KPMG PLT
(LLP0010081-LCA & AF 0758)
Chartered Accountants

Lee Phaik Im
Approval Number : 03177/05/2023 J
Chartered Accountant

Penang
Date : 10 May 2022
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Form of Proxy
BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD
[1992 0102 2806 (254310-M)]
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CDS Account No.

No. of Shares held

*I/We [full name and in block letters] ______________________________________________________________________________________________
*NRIC/Passport/Company No. [compulsory] ________________________________________ Mobile Phone No. _____________________________
Address [in block letters] ________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Being a shareholder of BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD [“the Company”] hereby appoint:

First Proxy

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Full Name [in block letters]
NRIC/Passport No.
Proportion of Shareholdings
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
No. of Shares
%
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Address:
		
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
*or failing *him/her.

Second Proxy [as the case may be]

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Full Name [in block letters]
NRIC/Passport No.
Proportion of Shareholdings
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
No. of Shares
%
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Address:
		
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
or failing him, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 28th Annual General
Meeting of the Company to be held at Centre of Learning (“COL”), Aras 4, Menara BDB, 88, Lebuhraya Darulaman, 05100 Alor Setar, Kedah
Darul Aman on Monday, 23 May 2022, at 10.00 a.m., for the purpose of transacting the following business or at any adjournment thereof.

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
NO. RESOLUTIONS
FOR
AGAINST
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
ORDINARY BUSINESS
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
To re-elect Y. Bhg Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman Bin Abdullah who is retiring pursuant to
1.
ORDINARY
Article 106 of the Company’s Constitution.
		
RESOLUTION 1
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
To re-elect Encik Noran Zamini Bin Jamaluddin who is retiring pursuant to Article 106
2.
ORDINARY
of the Company’s Constitution.
		
RESOLUTION 2		
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
3.		To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees for the Financial Year Ended 31 December
ORDINARY
2021.
		
RESOLUTION 3
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
To approve the payment of Directors’ Benefits (excluding Directors’ Fees) in
4.
ORDINARY
accordance with Section 230(1) of the Companies Act, 2016 with effect from the 28th
RESOLUTION 4
Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
To re-appoint Messrs. KPMG PLT as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year
5.
ORDINARY
and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
		
RESOLUTION 5
–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
[Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate box against the resolution how you wish your Proxy to vote. If no instruction is given, this form
will be taken to authorise the Proxy to vote at his/her discretion]
*Strike out whichever applicable.
** If you do not wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy/one (1) of your proxies, please strike out the words “the Chairman of
the Meeting” and insert the name(s) of the proxy/proxies you wish to appoint in the blank spaces provided.
Signed this ___________day of _____________________, 2022.

______________________________________
Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder

Notes:
1.

5.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting
is entitled to appoint up to two proxies (or being a corporate member,
a corporate representative) to attend and vote in his stead. A member
shall specify the shareholding proportion where two proxies are
appointed. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. There
shall be no restriction to the qualification of the proxy.

2.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall:
a. In the case of an individual, be signed by the appointer or by his/
her attorney.
b. In the case of a corporation, be either under its common seal or
under the hand of its duly authorised attorney or officer on behalf
of the corporation.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand
of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the
appointer is a corporation either under its common seal or under the
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

4.

The form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other
authority, shall be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at
Aras 9, Menara BDB, 88, Lebuhraya Darulaman, 05100 Alor Setar,
Kedah Darul Aman OR via the email address at dgrb.agm@bdb.
com.my not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for
holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

Only a depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors
as at 16 May 2022 shall be entitled to attend the said meeting and
to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and/or vote on his/her
behalf.

Personal Data Privacy
By submitting the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or
representative(s), to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting
and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company: (i) consents
to the processing of the member’s personal data by the Company
(or its agents): (a) for processing and administration of proxies and
representatives appointed for the AGM; (b) preparation and compilation
of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM
(which includes any adjournments thereto); and (c) for the Company’s (or
its agents) compliance with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations
and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that he or
she has obtained such proxy(ies) and/or representative’s(s’) prior consent
for the Company’s (or its agents) processing of such proxy(ies) and/or
representative’s(s’) personal data for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that
the member will indemnify the Company for any penalties, liabilities,
claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s
breach of warranty.

AFFIX
STAMP

The Company Secretary
Bina Darulaman Berhad
Aras 9, Menara BDB
88, Lebuhraya Darulaman
05100 Alor Setar
Kedah Darul Aman

